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      An old St. Catharines book of By-laws had this to say: “Man is essentially a religious being.  In all ages and under all circumstances he has had a shrine at which to offer up his devotions; and no matter how unhallowed may have been the rites by which that religion was solemnized, still it afforded an outlet to his feelings, while at the same time it placed a stamp upon his character.  Men’s characters are formed by the society in which they move – by the institutions under which they live; and that society, no matter by what name it may be called, which ahs for its prime objective the good of mankind, is at least entitled to our regard and esteem.  Masonry, though making no claim to Divine origin, is yet a creed that demands and receives the universal consent of all men, which admits of no doubt, and defies schism.”
      This being so, it is not surprising that, in the early history of our country, Masonry found a place and that story is told beautifully in other pamphlets and books and need not be repeated here.  It is enough to say the British regiments, stationed in Canada, had Masonic Lodges as part of their being.  Where they were stationed in a region for some time it was natural that they accepted into this inner circle of the prominent men of the community.  When the regiment moved, as was quite frequent in those troubled days, the brethren, left without a lode to attend, naturally met in their homes or in inns and kept up their work.  In this way Niagara Lodge, in the old Town of Niagara, was so formed.  
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        In another paper this story is well told.  For this paper, it is enough to say that many prominent St. Catharines men belonged to that Lodge and did not think it too far to travel regularly to the meetings held “on or before the full of the moon.”
      Came the War of 1812-14 between the U.S.A. and Britain, and Canada was invaded by American troops; and old Niagara, together with other lodges along the border found it difficult to meet and had to cease holding meetings “for the duration.”  St. Catharines, being somewhat removed from the threat of war and feeling the want of that intercourse that is so much enjoyed by all good Masons, decided to do something about having their own meeting place and lodge.  Thus Masonry came to St. Catharines.
      Today there are eight Craft lodges within the city limits as well as a Royal Arch Chapter and a Preceptory.  In all there are over two thousand members making up approximately 2.5% of the population.
ST.  CATHARINES
      St. Catharines, “The Garden City,” lays claim to being the leading city of the Niagara Peninsula.  It can trace its origin back to 1786 when the first two Loyalist families, by the names of Hainer and Dittrick, settled one on either side of the twelve Mile Creek.
      At the close of the American Revolutionary War, a land survey board was establish3ed to parcel out the land to United Empire Loyalists and other early settlers.  One of the members of the board, Hon. Robert Hamilton, Superintendent of the Western Division, seemed to allot a substantial portion of the best land to himself.  He obtained grants in every part of the Peninsula.  One of these parcels was the land now forming the heart of the City of St. Catharines.  To service the settlers he hoped to have on his land, he built a warehouse on the Twelve Mile Creek in the heart of the present city, Hamilton  himself did not settle here, however.
      Two of the early families were the Adams family and the Merritt family, both of whom became leaders in the community and were much heard of in the formative years of the city.
      In 1797, George Adams built the first tavern at the corner of what is now Ontario and St. Paul Streets.  However, he retained it for one year only, selling it to Paul Shipman.  For many years thereafter the community was known as Shipman’s Corners or The twelve, and the main business street as St. Paul Street.  About 1816, as the community grew, the name changed to St. Catharines in honour of  Catharine Askin Robertson, firs wife of Robert Hamilton.
      Incorporation did not come to St. Catharines until 1845.  Thirty-one years later it became a city.  In 1862 the town became the county seat for the County of Lincoln.  On January 1, 1961, amalgamation took place with the towns of Merritton and Port Dalhousie and the Township of Grantham to make a new city of 84,000 people.
ST.  GEORGES  LODGE  NO. 15
      George Adams became a member of St. John’s Lodge of Friendship No. 2, Niagara, in 1796.  In 1822, at the time of the formation of the Second Provincial Grand Lodge of Upper Canada, he was Grand Master of the schismatic Grand Lodge of Niagara.  He became one of the leading movers to establish a lodge in St. Catharines.
      At the 100th and 125th anniversaries of St. George’s Lodge which were held in 1914 and 1939, those in charge laid claim to being able to trace their origin back to 1814.  If this is true, the Lodge must have met under dispensation for two years.  We know that the warrant was delivered on June 1, 1816, by officers of the continuing Provincial Grand Lodge (known as The Niagara Grand Lodge) and the Lodge received the number 27 in its register.
      Late in the 1890’s John Ross Robertson discovered an old volume containing the minutes of this meeting.  There are in part as follows:
      
“ Grand Lodge opened on the 1st June, 1816, at 2 o’clock p.m. at Paul Shipman’s Tavern in Grantham, met for the purpose of constituting a new lodge, designated by St. George’s Lodge No. ________.
“   Present:
R.W. Robert Kerr, Provincial Grand Master
      R.W.Christopher Danby, Deputy P.G. Master
      R.W. George Adams, J.G.W. Protem
      R.W. John Chrysler, S.G.W. Protem
      R.W. Adam Bowman, G. Treasurer
      R.W. Richard Cockrell, G. Secretary
      R.W. Josiah Brown,    G. Pursuivant
      Bro. Thos. Merritt, Worshipful Master
      Bro. George Adams, Senior Warden
      Bro. Amos McKinney, Junior Warden.”
      It will be noted that George Adams is listed twice, first as Junior Warden pro tem and as Senior Warden of the new Lodge.  In its historical notes, St. George’s Lodge lists Adams as the first Master but it seems clear that this is an error and that Thomas Merritt held the position.  This is further born out as Merritt heads the list of past masters given in 1833.
      Little is known of the working of St. George’s Lodge in the early years.  Apparently it remained active during the lull after the Morgan incident in 1826. Even when the Provincial Grand Lodge became inactive in 1829, Masonry was kept alive here.  This is borne out in the fact that on June 20, 1835, the corner stone of St. George’s Anglican Church was laid by the brethren.  Rev. Robt. Ker in his “Historic and Centenary Review” reports this ceremony and this is given in the appendix: “At the time the lodge was twenty-one years old.  Twelve masters had ruled over its affairs.  In order, they are as follows: Thomas Merritt, Amix McKinney, Ebenezer Colliver, Peter Ten Broeck Polling, George Rykert, Jacob Dittrick, George Adams, Charles Ingersoll, Robert Campbell, J.H. Clendennan, Peter S. Campbell and David M. Smith.”
      It is thought that the lodge became dormant about 1837-38 at the time of the Rebellion in Upper Canada.  It was not revived again until 1846 under Sir Allan N. MacNab, the Grand Master of the third Provincial Grand Lodge.  Since that day the lodge had continuous activity.
      Although not a part of the work of St. George’s  Lodge, yet closely connected with it, was a convocation of Grand Lodge at St. Catharines, on October 30, 1848 when Grand Master Sir Allan N. MacNab laid the corner stone of the town hall.  This building has been for many years the county building for Lincoln.  It contains the court rooms and legal and county offices.
      The minutes of this meeting are given in the appendix.
      An interesting sidelight of this occasion took place recently.  It was refered to in the address of M. W. Bro. C.M. Pitts, G.M., in 1960 at the Annual Communication at Toronto in these words:
      “Historic Trowel; Returns.”
      “On October 30, 1848, at St. Catharines, under the auspices of the Provin-cial Grand Lodge of Canada West, Rt. Wor. Bro. Sir Allan N. MacNab, Provincial Grand Master, in an impressive ceremony, laid the corner stone of a Town Hall.  He used a silver trowel engraved which was afterwards presented to him by the President by the President of the Board of Police.  One hundred and eleven years later, this trowel was discovered in the antique department of a large departments tore in Perth, Australia.  Through the personal kindness of the Grand Secretary of the Grand Lodge of Western Australia, Rt. Wor. Bro. N. J. Munroe, it was forwarded to our Grand Secretary, who arranged with His Worship the Mayor of St. Catharines, bro. Wilfred Bald, for a formal presentation of the trowel to that city.  On March 18, 1960, this presentation was performed by our Deputy Grand Master, Rt. Wor. Bro. R.W. Treleaven, and our Grand Secretary in the presence of a large company of the Civic authorities of the City of St. Catharines.  It will be placed in the City Archives.  This is but another instance of the chain of Masonic influence and co-operation which binds us together in mutual interest though in different continents.”
      Although the number 27 was assigned to the Lodge in 1816, it was changed to 15 under the second Provincial Grand Lodge and received the number 768 on the English register.  When the lodge was revived in 1846, it was renumbered 9 in Canada and 791 in England.  Under the Grand Lodge of Canada when re-numbering took place in 1859 – once again took its former number 15.
      The first regular meeting place of the lodge was a log tavern on Quee3nston Street, the property of Samuel Dolsen.  This meeting place was retained until the lodge became inactive.  In 18156, quarters were obtained in the Mittlebergher Block near the corner of St. Paul and Ontario Streets.  A fire occurred here in 1858 which resulted in the loss of many records.  It cannot be ascertained where the meting place was for a few years after this time.  The block may have been repaired.
      On January 31, 1871, a group of Masons met and formed the Masonic Association of St. Catharines for the purpose of erecting a lodge building.  A copy of the agreement was found in the local registry office by V..W. Bro. Horton Byrne and is reproduced in the appendix.  Lot No. 39 on Ontario Street, being 50 ft. by 90 ft. was purchased for $r,000. from J.P. Merritt and a lodge building was erected.  It was of three storeys.  The top floor contained a lodge room and a chapter room with service rooms.  The two lower floors were leased to business firms.  By this time a Royal Arch Chapter and a Preceptory had been started.  Maple Leaf Lodge had been in existence for several years and in 1873 Temple Lodge was instituted.  These five groups would make use of the facilities.
      In 1953 the building as sold for $45,000, and the old Court Street School was bought and thoroughly remodeled into the present Masonic Memorial Temple.
MAPLE  LEAF  LODGE  NO. 103.
      With the revival of Masonry in Ontario in the 1840’s membership in all lodges increased.  In St. Catharines, which had grown to a sizeable community, the one lodge, St. George’s, became quite large.  Early in 1858 a number of prominent members, led by James Seymour and William McGhie with the full support of their mother lodge, petitioned Grand Lodge for a dispensation to start a new lodge.  This was readily granted and an organization meeting was held on May 17.  The new lodge received the name Maple Leaf, and was registered as Number 103 in the register of Grand Lodge.  The charter was dated July 29, 1858.
      Records of the early meetings have been lost.  However, the St  Catharines Constitution, a local weekly newspaper, reported the first meeting as follows:.
      “The installation of offices connected with the new Masonic lodge of this town – the Maple Leaf by name, together with a respectable number of visiting brethren from St. George’s Lodge, being in attendance to witness the ceremony.  M.W. Bro. Poe officiating on the occasion assisted by Past masters Parsons and Roberts.  And if the regularity and strict observance marking the work of the evening may be regarded as a fair augury of future operations, then may the following brethren of Maple Leaf Lodge feel proud of their auspicious induction to office during the first term of its career:
      W.M., W. Bro. Wm. McGhie    J.D. Bro. S. Hofeller
      S.W. Bro. Dr. A. Jukes         D of C. Bro. Robt. Lawrie
      J.W. Bro. James Seymour      Sr. S. Bro. Stanley Alexander
      Secy. Bro. R.H. McMullen      Jr. S. Bro. Hiram  Marlatt
      Treas. W. Bro. F. Parsons     I.G. Bro. Hugh James.
      S.D. Bro. Thos. Hosteller     Tyler R.L. Fitzgerald
      The Lodge was then closed in harmony and the Worshipful Master elect invited the officers and members and visiting brethren present to Brother Houghton’s for refreshments which the previous labours rendered particularly appetizing.  After spending a short but pleasant season of enjoyment and social hilarity, the closing sentiment, “Happy to meet, sorry to part, happy to meet again,” caused an early dispersion, the kindest wishes to Maple Leaf pervaded all.
      Other charter members were: Thomas Fletcher, William Read, Rolland McDonald, John S. Clark, Henry J. Hudson, Kenneth MacKenzie and Asrael Roberts.”
      Of the eighteen charter members, six later resigned form the new lodge, five were suspended for N.P.D., although one was alter restored to god standng and the remainder remained faithful till called to the Grand Lodge above.
      The lodge was very active for a number of years.  In each of the first two years, eleven new members were taken in.  However during 1865, the membership dropped form 67 to 46 due to suspensions for non-payment of dues.  Apparently there was an economic recession that year.  By 1869, just four years later, the membership had passed the one hundred mark.  From that time on progress was in evidence until today it is St. Catharines larger lodge with over five hundred members.   During the century of its history no fewer than 1,300 names have appeared on its register.
      One of the most famous of its members and one of its charter members, was James Seymour who became the only Grand Master and Grand First Principal from the vicinity.  He served as Grand Master during the year 1871 and as Grand First Principal during 1874.
      As Maple Leaf Lodge was the child of St. George’s, so Maple Leaf in turn sponsored two other lodges that are flourishing in the immediate neighbourhood to-day, Mountain Lodge of Thorold in 1873 and Seymour Lodge in the former Port Dalhousie in 1872.
SEYMOUR  LODGE  NO. 277
      In the early days lodges were few and far between.  So interested were the brethren that they came long distances and at considerable hardship at times to meet together.  As their members increased it became feasible to organize new lodges which were ore convenient to the brethren. 
      Seymour Lodge was originated because it was difficult to get from Port Dalhousie to St. Catharines during inclement weather with horse and buggy.
      In the formation of the lodge, Maple Leaf Lodge may be considered the sponsoring body as most of the charter members were from that lodge and it was named after James Seymour, former Grand Master, who also became a charter member.
      The first meeting to organize it was held on January 22, 1872 in the Wood building with fourteen men present.  Other meetings resulted in having Robert Wilson, D.D.G.M. give the lodge a dispensation on May 22 of that year.  In due course, the lodge was dedicated by Most Wor. Bro. Seymour.
      Maple Leaf Lodge, whose Master at that time was Peter McCarthy, and secretary, J. E. Beeton, paid for the charter and thus acted the elder brother to the new lodge.
                        The first officers installed were:
                        W.M.  Robert Patterson                                    S.D. Henry Bald
                        S.W. Humphrey Julian                         J.D.  Jonathan Woodall
                        J.W. George W. Read                                    I.G.  Richard Newman            
                        Treas.  Richard Wood                           Tyler  William Scott
                        Secy. John Lawrie
      The first lodge meeting was held in a room in a building that stood on the present site of Frank Latcham’s store on the corner of Lock and Front Streets.  The rent was $60.00 a year.
      In 1800, the Denton building was erected on Lock Street and on May 12, the lodge moved there.  In 1921, they purchased the building and held it until 1947.  In 1954, they moved into their present building which they now share with Grantham Lodge.
      One member who might be singled out for special mention is W. Bro. T.O. Johnston who served forty-two years as secretary, and who in 1954 stepped down to the position of honorary secretary.
      In the intervening years the following members have received grand honours:
      Year      D.D.G.M.      Dist. Secy.
      1913      J.M.A. Waugh      Frank Scott
      1926      T.O. Johnston    R.C. Birrell
      1934      A.R. MacDonald   G.H. Scott
      1944      W.G. Grandon    J.P. Harris
      The John Green Memorial Jewel was presented by this family to the lodge in 1903, and is worn by the immediate past master for his year.
      
TEMPLE  LODGE  NO.  296.
      Soon after the formation of Seymour Lodge in Port Dalhousie, it became apparent that the was the need of a third lodge in St. Catharines.  St. George’s and Maple Leaf Lodges co-operated in recommending the new lodge and in its actual formation.  The records of the lodge give the following information:
      “Regular meeting of Temple Lodge, U.D. held in the Masonic Hall, St. Catharines on Wednesday the second day of April A.L. 5873 pursuant to summonses of W. Bro. L. S. Ollie, W.M., U.D.” 
      The Worshipful Maser at the appointed time read the dispensation from the M.W. G.M., authorizing to hold meetings and having complied with all the require-ments, the Lodge was opened at 8 o’clock p.m.
      The Worshipful Maser was pleased to appoint the following officers to serve in Temple Lodge, viz:
      W.Bro. Lauchlin Leitch as Treasurer
      Bro. James M. Edwin, Secretary
      Bro. Theodore Thompson, as Senior Deacon
      Bro. Robert S. Ness, as Junior Deacon
      Bro. Frederick A. Baker, as Inner Guard
      Bro. Wm. W. Greenwood, as Steward
      Bro. John. W. Cox, as Steward
      Bro. Jon Reid, as Director of Ceremonies
      Bro. James D. Tait, as Assistant D. of C.
      Bro. John M. Currie, as Assistant D. of C.
      It was decided to hold the regular meetings on the first Monday of each month.  Later this was changed to the third Monday.  At the same time it was decided by resolution  that Bro. Theodore Ratcliffe be appointed tyler at the rate of $1.00 per meeting served.
      At the first meeting, three brethren applied for affiliation and seven citizens for initiation.
      At the end of the first year, Temple Lodge decided to join with its two sister lodges in forming a Joint Board of Masonic Relief for brethren who asked for casual relief and needed help hurriedly.
      Some interesting highlights may be taken from the minute book:
      On January 3, 1877, “Moved and seconded that the W.M. select a commit-tee of Temple, St. Catharines and Maple Lodge to hold a “Conversazione” in the temple on or about the 16th  of the month.”  Nothing further was recorded of this event.
      On April 4, 1877 the record states that a gas light for the secretary’s desk was requested and also that the Masonic Association do something to ventilate the temple properly.
      On May 2, 1877, a motion requesting the W.M. to appoint a committee to work with St. George’s and Maple Leaf Lodges to make all necessary arrangements for the Grand Lodge to meet the 2nd week in July in Catharines.
      By May 28, 1884, there was resentment over treatment by the Board of Masonic Control about the rent charged and since the lodge seemed unable to even get a reply to their letters they decided tog o elsewhere, for a time meeting in the office of one of the members, V.W. Bro. Klotz.  First meeting here was held June 24, 1884 and after several meetings were held in this office, a regular meeting was held in United Workmen’s Hall.  However, there was a reconciliation, rent was adjusted and the brethren of Temple Lodge returned to their old quarters.
      In those days, progress was slow, finances were low and when the Worshp-ful Master sanctioned the funeral expenses of a deceased brother, the lodge, while agreeing with the Master, asked that the brethren loan the amount to the W.M. till such time as the finances were adequate to repay them.  By March 1886 there was talk of amalgamation with the other lodges of the city but nothing came of this fortunately.  Despite the usual setbacks, Temple Lodge has made progress to this day.
ADANAC  LODGE  NO.614
      After the institution of Temple Lodge in 1873, no new lodge came into being in the city for about half a century.  Three lodges meeting in the temple on Ontario Street serviced the center of the community.  Seymour Lodge took care of the Northern and while Mountain Lodge in Throld was in the south.  The town of Merritton with its many paper mills and other light industry became a center of importance.  Residents here belonged to the lodges in either St. Catharines or Thorold.
      During the summer of 1922, a movement was underway with the view of forming a new lodge, centred in Merritton.  This culminated in a meeting held on October 30, at which over sixty attended.  At this meeting the dispensation was delivered to the lodge.  It is interesting to note how many came form sister lodges in towns and cities over the whole peninsula.
      The past masters among them are listed as follows:
W.F. Fawcett      D.D.G.M.   Port Colborne      McNab 169
J.C. Limburner      D.D.G.M.   Niagara Falls                 Clifton 254
R.A. Gibson              P.M.   Thorold                 Mountain 221
D. Walker              P.M.   Thorold                 Mountain 221`
L.G. O’Connor              P.M.   Thorold                 Mountain 221
D.J. Munro              P.M.   Thorold                 Mountain 221
P. Holmes              P.M.   St. Catharines           St. Georges  15
S. J. Linstater              P.M.   St. Catharines          Maple Leaf  103
J. Cuthbert            P.M.   Port Colborne                 McNab 169
D. Burt                P.M.   Port Colborne      McNab 169
A. Neff                P.M.   Port Colborne      McNab 169
P. Gonder                 P.M.   Buffalo, N.Y.            Occidental 776
N.L. Lockhart          W.M.   St. Catharines      Temple 296
W. Wheeler             P.M.   Thorold                Mountain   221
D.S. McCrae            P.M.   Niagara Falls     Clifton 254
D. McCracken            P.M.   Port Colborne      McNab 169.
      No minutes of this meeting are in existence but the register indicates forty-seven Master Masons in attendance.  Adanac Lodge was truly off to a good start.
      On November 2, the first regular meeting was held and the following officers are recorded as in attendance: 
      W.M. R.  A. Gibson      Treas. W. F. Davidson
      S.W.  H. R. Savigny      Sec’y.  F. Sutherland
      J.W.  S..A.  Moffatt     S.D.     R. Bradley
      J.D.   R. Thompson      J.S.      P. Rennie
      I.G.   R. Stuart         Tyler   J. Prophet
      S.S.   F. Kerr
      In addition there were ten members and four visitors present.  Three applications were received form W.A. Richardson, James Rennie and L.J. Channel.
      The portals of the lodge were well guarded as it is recorded that one of the first three applicants was rejected.  The first initiation took place on December 7.  The candidate was James Rennie and the immediate past master of Mountain Lodge took charge of the ceremony.  The second candidate was taken by W. Bro. Gibson.
      It took almost two years before the by-laws were formulated and approved.
      It is of interest to note that on September 3, 1923 Bro. Wheeler and the Junior Warden were to be a committee to purchase cuspidors but these must not be used as a chewing tobacco receptacle.  By June the purchases had been made and the committee discharged.
      In April 1928, the lodge encountered trouble with its landlord who had made application for membership and had been turned down.  Notice of vacation was given and in November a new location was found in the Merritton Merchantile Block.
      It was about this time that a Masonic holding company was established which was finally instrumental in the lodge owning its own building.
      There was evidently strong feeling in May 1927 over the dividing of the Niagara Masonic District into groups “A” and “B” and at this meeting it was decided to contact the D.D.G.M. as to details and after hearing these a motion was passed June 2, 1927 that no division take place.  However, this did occur and no more was heard of it.
      From this time the lodge progressed steadily from year to year until there are now well over two hundred members.
      On January 1, 1961, Merritton became part of an enlarged city of St. Catharines and the lodge is now one of the eight city lodges.
PERFECTION  LODGE  NO. 616.
      About 1920 the local brethren began to talk about forming a new lodge.  Since the present lodges’ memberships were getting quite large.  This talk came to fruition when in the lodge rooms at 8 p.m. on the 13th of November 1922 D.D.G.M. Fawcett of Niagara District declared that all preliminaries had been met and that the Grand Master had approved a dispensation to hold a Masonic lodge to be known as Perfection Lodge.  Robert Dunn then took the chair as W.M. and appointed the following brethren to the different chairs in the Lodge, i.e.
      S.W.    Amos McComb      D.C.   Sam J. Inksater
      J.W.   Eric J.S. Brown      Organist Chrles Allison
      Chaplain David King    I.G.   Ernest Fox
      Treas.   Alex Jones      S.S.   Thomas B. Griffin
      Sec.   Gordon Sherk      J.S.   Ralsey C. Davis
      S.D.   Francis Coy      Tyler   Grover H. Davis
      J.D.   Wm. A. Anderson
      On 29th October 1923 there was an important emergent meeting of the Lodge.  The W.M. Robert Dunn called the lodge to order and the beautiful Ceremony of Constitution and Consecrating was conducted by M.W. Bro. Drope, assisted by D.D.G.M. Damude and many other Grand Lodge officers.  The same officers were all confirmed in their chairs.  There was a very large attendance of visiting brethren and the evening was brought to a close with a happy and satisfying social hour.  M.W. Bro. G.M. Drope was by motion of the Lodge made an honorary member of Perfection Lodge, which was numbered 616 on the Registry of Grand Lodge.
      The first three candidates got their Entered Apprentice degree on January 8., 1923, while the lodge was still under dispensation.  They were Frederick John Lowe, Manufacturer, William A. Black, Merchant and Norman S. Cunning, Railway Superintendent.
      Grand Lodge Honours were not slow in coming to the new lodge and through the years following received recognition for faithful service rendered to Perfection Lodge and Masonry in general:
      
Robert L. Dunn, Grand Sword Bearer, 1923
Dr. John Herod, D.D.G.M.  Niagara 10 B. 1919-1920
S. J. Inksater, D.D.G.M. Niagara 10 A. 1933-1934
B. D. Hull, G.S., 1934
Grove Davis, G.S. 1936
George McCalla, D.D.G.M. Niagara A 194201943
W. A. Brown, G.S. 1943
P. G. Moore, G.S. 1948
W.C. Ellis, D.D.G.M. Niagara A.1954-1955
Ross Yeo, G.S. 1955.
      Perfection Lodge showed progress from the beginning.  Starting with sixteen charter members and several affiliations, sixteen new candidates were initiated during the first year and throughout most of its history it ahs continued to progress.  At the time of this writing in 1962 there is an enrolment of 225 brethren in good standing.
ST. ANDREWS  LODGE  NO. 661

      St. Catharines has long been noted for the special groups that assemble to confer degrees.  One of the most prominent was composed of brethren with Scottish background.  On invitation they visited many of the District lodges to confer degrees and install masters.  This group kept quite intact for many years.
      In January 1949, a number of the group gathered at the home of James Thompson with the view of forming a new lodge.  Joseph Backus acted as chairman and Edwin MacLean as secretary.  It was decided to seek a dispensation and the following were selected as the first officers:
      W.M.   James Thompson      S.D.   J. Muir
      I.P.   John Johnstone         J.D.   S. Hourston
      S.W.   A.R. Blaik       S.S.   F.R. Allison
      J.W.   David W. Donnelly    J.S.   F.R. Allison
      Treas.   Alix Mitchell        D. of C.  D.W.G. Scott
      Secy.   J.H. Cunningham      Tyler   J. Garland
      Chap.  J. Davisoon
      Along with the officers were the following charter members, Joseph Backus, Ed. MacLean, James J. Anderson, John Storrie, Harry MacPherson, Robert Dunn.
      The title, St. Andrew’s Lodge, was chosen because Andrew was the second Apostle to be called, also that he was the Patron Saint of Scotland.  Like his Master, Andrew was crucified on a cross.  His cross, however, was in the form of an “X”, which later became known as St. Andrew’s Cross.
      On February 25, 1949, a dispensation was presented to the new lodge by Chas. H. Hesburn, D.D.G.M. of Niagara District A.
      The evening of September 23, 1949, was one of lasting interest.  At the close of the work of the evening, James S. Anderson, W.M. of Temple Lodge assumed the Masters Chair.  He requested the Past Masters and members of Temple Lodge form a St. Andrew’s Cross on the floor of the lodge.  He then asked the officers of St. Andrew’s Lodge to stand opposite their opposite numbers of Temple Lodge in their respective places.  Brother Anderson instructed his offices each to present a collar and jewel to the officer opposite him.  When this was completed, numerous other presentations were made.
      The warrant was delivered and presented on October 28, 1949 by M.W. Bro. T.H. Simpson, P.G.M. assisted by many other past and present Grand Lodge officers.
      On March 3, 1950, further presentations were made.  On this occasion J. Johnstone, W.B.H.MacPherson and J Hollinshead presented the lodge with the Union Jack, the Canadian Ensign and St. Andrew’s Flag.   They were of silk and silk cords and tassels.  The bases were metal and teakwood with the thistle carved upon them.
      On April 21, 1950, Ed Armstrong of Dominion Regalia, Toronto presented Royal Stuart tartan ribbons to the officers of the lodge.  These tartans were to be worn from the left shoulder across the chest to the right side and were to be part of the officer’s dress on special occasions and when visiting.
      This Lodge expanded very rapidly until now it has over 160 members on its roll.  One of the charter members, Fred R. Allison served s D.D.G.M. in 1960.
GRANTHAM  LODGE  NO. 697

      Following World War II, Grantham Township which surrounded St. Catharines, grew rapidly in population.  Many new sub-divisions were opened and filled.  Among the new residents, many were members of the Masonic order, a considerable number of whom affiliated with the older established lodges.
      By 1958, there grew the need and desire to establish a new lodge to serve this growing area.  The leader of the movement was Ben. Schaab, a past master and secretary of Seymour Lodge.  On May 6, he called a meeting of interested brethren at the home of S.D. Costen.  Eight past masters attended.  They represented seven lodges.  At this meeting it was decided to apply for a dispensation for a new lodge to be known as Grantham Lodge and which would meet in the lodge room at Port Dalhousie, owned by Seymour Lodge.
      The latter lodge offered to sponsor its neighbour.  A tentative slate of officers was selected as follows:
      W.M.   F. G. White      Chaplain   S. W. Bunston 
      I.P.M.   B. E. Schaab      S.D.       A. Hartley
      S.W.   F.L. Collard      J.D.       S.A. Stevens
      J.W.   R. McClennan    I.G.       S.D. Costen
      Secy.   E.H. Tanner      S.S.       W.S. Coolin
      Treas.   H.H. Nicholson      J.S.       R. Abercrombie
      D.of C.   E.R. Schrumm      Tyler       N.C. Brewster
      The charter was presented on September 29, 1958 by M.W. Bro. W.J. Dunlop.  It contained the names of thirty-four members.  At the close of the ceremony, Dr. Dunlop as made an honorary member. 
MOUNT  MORIAH  CHAPTER,  R.A.M. No. 14

      The Grand Lodge of Canada was founded in 1855, to be followed two years later by the Grand Chapter of Royal Arch Masons.  This gave a great impetus to all branches of Masonry.  The need was felt for Capitular Masonry to be active in the Niagara Peninsula, so the nineteenth warrant in that area was given to Mount Moriah Chapter on February 21, 1861.
      The organization meeting was held on July 10, 1860 in the lodge room on Ontario Street with the following in attendance: 
James Seymour      St. John’s Chapter No. 6, Hamilton
Dr. Edwin Goodman   St. John’s Chapter, No. 6, Hamilton
Charles R. Camp      St. John’s Chapter No. 6, Hamilton
John T. Parker      St. Andrew’s Chapter No. 4, Toronto
Henry G. Keefer      Washington Chapter No. 13, Marysville, Cal.
Fred Parsons     Ames Chapter No. 88, Lockport, N.Y.
Dr. Theophilus Mack   Buffalo Chapter No. 71, Buffalo, N.Y.
Robert Wilson      King Solomon Chapter No. 8, Toronto
Thomas Bird Harris   Hiram Chapter NO. 2, Hamilton
      A petition was forwarded to Grand Chapter and a dispensation was granted on January 10, 1861.  On January 22, the Grand Superintendent for the Hamilton district installed the Principals.  On February 21, the warrant was presented.
      Among those early Companions who brought luster to themselves and Mount Moriah Chapter was most Excellent Companion James Seymour.  He was born in Limerick, Ireland in 1824 and came to Halifax, N.S., when but four years of age.  His boyhood days were spent in the Maritimes. Later he became associated with the Toronto Globe and the Hamilton Spectator and finally purchased the St. Catharines Constitution.  This was then an influential weekly newspaper.  He continued to publish it till he was appointed Collector of Inland Revenue in 1884.  As already mentioned he was a charter member of this Chapter, becoming its First Principal.  He was also very active in Maple Leaf Lodge, No. 103, becoming its firs junior warden and its Worshipful Master in 1860.  He was elected Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of Canada in the Province of Ontario in 1874.  His election took place at a Convocation of Grand Chapter held in St. Catharines to which Mount Moriah Chapter acted as host.
      Another equally illustrious Companion was Dr. Theophilus Mack who also came from Ireland, the city of Dublin, where he was born April 20, 1820.  He came to Canada and trained as a doctor in one of the marine corps.  This was in Anherstburg and Geneva College, N.Y.  He returned to Canada and began to practice medicine in St. Catharines, Ont. in 1884.  An interesting event in his very busy life was when he was called to Toronto to attend Hon. George Brown, one of the Fathers of Confederation, after Brown had been shot by an assassin.  Dr. Mack also became famous as the doctor who started the first training school for nurses in Canada.  This is now known as the Mack Training School for Nurses and is still located in St. Catharines, where Dr. Mack founded it in 1874.  He was also interested in the local mineral springs.  He was also the founder of St. Catharines General Hospital.  He was an enthusiastic Mason and was a charter member of Mount Moriah Chapter No. 19 and its first Scribe “E”.  He was also a member of St. George’s Lodge No. 15.
      Included in that memorable and cherished group was another local medical doctor, Dr. E. Goodman.  He assisted Dr. Mack in organizing St. Catharines General Hospital.  He was attached to the local militia during the Fenian Raids of 1866 and was on active service at the Battle of Ridgeway in 1866.  He was a charter member of Mount Moraiah and became its first Second Principal.
      Early members came from widely scattered parts of the Peninsula, namely St. Catharines, Thorold, Niagara, Port Dalhousie, St. Davids, Queenston, Stamford, Grimsby, Dunnville, Beamsville, Welland, Clifton, Black Creek and Fort Erie.  It must have taken real interest in Capitular Masonry for these companions to be regular attendants.  Old records attest to the fact that those farthest would drive some ten miles, change horses, drive another ten miles, repeat the performance and so on until they arrived at St. Catharines, repeat the performance and so on until they arrived at St. Catharines, repeating the undertaking in reverse after the meeting.  Companions were picked up along the way and thee meetings were eagerly anticipated.
      Despite distance, weather and other hindrances the Chapter gradually grew and by 1904 had reached a membership of 100 members – a remarkable increase from the nine charter members in 1861.  During the next fourteen years I doubled its membership again.  There were also poor years.  In each of the years 1893, 1887, 1931 there were no Mark Masters made, although there were two affiliates in 1931.  One highlight was that wonderful night, February 13, 1953 when 12 brethren were advanced to the honorary degree of Mark Master Mason.  Again one reads with delight of January 5, 1866 when 12 brethren journeyed form Dunnville, with other companions and were also advanced.  The year 1921 was a banner year and one still refer to by the older companions, because that year 36 brethren received their M.M.M. degree.
      Early history of the Chapter shows that the officers came form every walk of life.  Among the First Principals were 3 teachers, 4 farmers, 4 doctors, 8 merchants, 3 lawyers and 1 clergyman. 
      Besides the Convocation of Grand Chapter held in St. Catharines in 1875, a second Convocation was held here in 1936.
      In those early days Chapters worked four degrees, namely, M.M.M.; P.M.; M.E.M.; and R.A.M.  This caused considerable difficulties with the Grand Chapter of England which was not resolved till the year Mount Moriah was granted its charter, namely 1861.  Irregularities in granting the P.M. degree in Ontario Chapters caused this degree to be discontinued in 1896.  Today New York Chapters frequently work this degree for our companions and grant them a certificate to this effect, making it possible for them to visit chapters ‘across the river’.  Local companions have always appreciated this gesture of good will and many avail themselves of this courtesy each year.
PLANTAGENET  PRECEPTORY  NO. 8  KNIGHTS  TEMPLARS  (1866)

      The first record we have of the Knights Templars in St. Catharines was on June 10 and 11, 1862, when  the seventh annual assembly was held in this com-munity.  At this session it was announced that the Supreme Grand Conclave had granted authority to the Provincial Grand Conclave to regulate its own fees of honour, and that the power of granting dispensation for new Encampments would be vested in future in the Provincial Grand Commander.  The Grand Conclave immediately amended its regulations to provide for these important concessions.
      At this meeting the several degrees, or points, of Knight of the Sword, Knight of the East, and Knight of the East and West were conferred by the Grand Commander on such fraters present as had not previously received them.
      The eleventh annual assembly was held in St. Catharines on August 15, 1866. On this occasion a petition was received, dated March 20, 1866, from a number of knights resident n St. Catharines and vicinity, praying for authority to open an encampment in St. Catharines, to be called Plantagenet.  A dispensation was immediately issued, pending the receipt of a warrant from England.
      According to an old record book of this organization, a meeting had previously been held in the Masonic Hall.  In attendance were:
      Dr. Theolphilus Mack, Lake Erie Encampment, Buffalo
      James Seymour, Godfrey de Buillon Encampment, Hamilton
      Dr. Edwin Goodman, Godfrey de Buillon Encampment, Hamilton
      Isaac Pemberton Wilson, Godfrey du Buillon Encampment, Hamilton
      William McGhie, Godfrey de Buillon Encampment, Hamilton.
      The petition for a dispensation contained these additional names:
      James Mackay, Godfrey de Buillon Encampment, Hamilton
      John Walter Murton, Godfrey de Buillon Encampment, Hamilton
      Thomas Bird Harris, Godfrey de Buillon Encampment, Hamilton
      The Hamilton Encampment was the sponsoring body.
      The charter listed the following as first officers:
      E. Com.          James Seymour
      1st Capt.        Edwin Goodman
      2nd Capt.        Theophilus Mack
      Registrar and Capt. Lines  William McGhie    
      Equerry             Isaac P. Willson
      The first regular assembly was held on January 14, 1867 at which time there were applications from thirteen members of Mount Moriah Chapter.
      The Preceptory grew and prospered and although many times there were only six or seven in attendance, yet there was much interest in the work of the Preceptory.  Repeatedly the end of the year report claimed tow or three new members with one or two being removed from the roll for various reasons.  It was a time of rejoicing when in 1871 four new knights were added to the roll and none during the year removed.
      The regular meeting of April 14, 1873, had a long report of the discussions taking place as regards a Convent General for the whole British Empire and the report was closed advising that the Fraters keep a close watch on developments.  It was at this time that the word Masonic was dropped.  Encampments became Precep-
Tories and Commanders became Preceptors; the titles “Chaplain”, “Constable” and “Marshall” replaced the titles of Prelate and First and Second Captains.  The use of the Masonic apron was also discontinued at this time.  At this regular meeting the officers were addressed by their new titles.  The Convent General delayed for a long time in acceding to the request of the Canadian body to have its own Great Priory and Plantagenet was wholeheartedly behind the agitation, and finally in 1876 Plantagent exchanged its English Charter for one issued by the National Great Priory of Canada.  This was in 1876.
      From that time on Plantagenet continued to progress with good men and true in charge of the work.  They builded well and they builded truly and as a result, as Plantagenet nears its centennial, it is in good financial position and has at present a membership of approximately 100 knights.
               Present
The Right Worshipful Bro. Sir Allan Napier McNab, Provincial Grand Master.
The Right Worshipful Bro. Thomas Gibbs Ridout, Deputy Provincial Grand Master.
W. Bro. Henry Melville, as P. Grand Senior Warden.
V. W. Bro. P. V. Meyerhoffer, as P.G. Chaplain
V. W. Bro. Alexander Burnside, P.G. Treasurer
V. W. Bro. Robert McClure, P.G. Registrar
V. W. Bro. Francis Richrdson, P.G. Secretary
W. Bro. Charles Lynes, P.G. Senior Deacon
W. Bro. George Rykert, P.G. Junior Deacon
Bro. Kivas Tully, P.G. Superintendent of Works
V. W. Bro. Richard Watson. , P.G. Director of Ceremonies
W. Bro. W. M. Wilson, P.G. Sword Bearer
Bro. Thomas Duggan, W. Bro. Nathan Gatchel, Bro. J.L. Ramnay, P.G.Stewards
Bro. Henry Schallehn, Bro. W.F. Murray, Bro. R.L. Fitzgerald, P.G. Stewards
Bro. John Morrison, P.G. Tyler
The Masters, Past Masters and Wardens of several lodges.
      The Provincial Grand Lodge was opened in due form at r o’clock p.m., with solemn prayer.
      The Right Worshipful Provincial Grand Master having stated the purpose for which the Provincial Grand Lodge had been assembled, directed the Provincial Grand Director of Ceremonies to form the procession.  The brethren then proceeded to the site of the intended building, and the band having played “Rule Britannia,” the Right Worshipful Deputy Provincial Grand Master delivered to the people the following address:-
      “Men, women and children, here assembled to-day, to behold this cere-mony, know all of you, that we be lawful Masons, true to the laws of our country, and established of old, with peace and honour, in most countries, to do good to our brethren, to build great buildings and to fear God, who is the great Architect of all things.  We have among us concealed from the eyes of all men, secrets which may not be revealed, and which no man has discovered; but these secrets are lawful and honourable to know by Masons, who only have the keeping of them to the end of time.  Unless our Craft were good and our calling honourable, we should not have lasted so many centuries, nor should we have had so many illustrious brothers in our Order, ready to promote our laws and further out interests.  To-day we are here assembled in the presence of you all, to build a hall for the public use of this town, which we pray God may prosper, if it seem good to Him, that it may become a building for good men and good deeds, and promote harmony and brotherly love till the world itself shall end.: - So mote it me.
      The Provincial Grand Chaplain offered up prayer, invoking the protection of the Great Architect of the Universe to the building, after which the Provincial Grand Secretary read the inscription engraved on the plate.  The Provincial Grand Treasurer deposited a bottle containing coins, papers, etc. in the cavity.  The P. Grand Secretary placed the inscription plate on it, and cement was placed on the lower stone.
      The trowel (of silver) was then presented to R. W. Provincial Grand Master by the President of the Board of Police, who in presenting it read the following inscription: -
      Presented to
            SIR A.N. MacNAB, M.P.P.
Provincial Grand Master of Free and accepted Masons for Canada West.  By the President and members of the Board of Police, on the occasion of laying the corner stone of a Town Hall and Market house at St. Catharines, on the 30th October, 1848.
      To which the R.W. Provincial Grand Master made a suitable reply.
      The R. W. Provincial Grand Master then proceeded to spread the cement, and the stone was lowered in its place, the band played the National Anthem; after which he was pleased to prove that the stone was truly adjusted by the plumb rule, level and square, which were successively handed to him by the Senior and Junior Grand Wardens and Deputy Provincial Grand Master, when the Mall being also presented to him by the R. W. Deputy Provincial Grand Master, he gave the stone three distinct knocks, and said:-
      “May the Great Architect of the Universe grand a blessing on this foundation stone which we have now laid, and by His Providence enable us to finish every other work which may be undertaken for the benefit and advantage of this town.”
      The Cornucopia, containing corn, and tow ewers. Containing wine and oil, were then successively presented by the Deputy Provincial Grand Master to the Provincial Grand Master who scattered the corn and poured out the oil and wine upon the stone, saying:-
      “May the all-bounteous Author of nature grant an abundance of corn, wine and oil, with all other necessaries, conveniences and comforts to this town, and may the same Providence preside over and preserve it form ruin and decay to the latest posterity.”
      The Provincial Grand Superintendent of Works then presented the plans of the building to the Provincial Grand Master, who inspected and returned them to him, together with the several working implements, and then addressed him:-
      “Mr. Architect, the foundation stone of this Town Hall, planned n much wisdom by you, being now laid, and these implements having been applied to it by me, and approved of, I now return them to you in full confidence that as a skilful and faithful workman you will cause them to be used in such a manner that the building may rise in order, harmony and beauty, and being perfected in strength, will answer every purpose for which it is intended, to your credit and to the honour of those who have selected you.”
      The above ceremonies being completed, an address was delivered by W. Bro. W. M. Wilson P. Grand Sword Bearer, and P.M.St. John’s Lodge, Simcoe, who had been appointed to perform the duties of Grand Orator for the occasion; after which an address was presented by the President of the Board of Police to the Provincial Grand Master, who made a suitable reply thereon.
      The procession was then re-formed and returned to the lodge room in the usual manner; after which
      The Provincial Grand Lodge was close din due form at half-past six o’clock p.m., with solemn prayer.
               (singed) FRANCIS RICHARDSON,
                     Prov. Grand Secretary.”
               _________
                      APPENDIX III
               Temple Lodge No. 296.
         Charter Members as shown on Charter in Lodge Room.
      This Charter was issued by Most Wor. Bro. Wm. M. Wilson, Grand Master Rt. Wor. Bro. Thomas White, Jr., Deputy Grand Master and Rt. Wor. Bro. T. B. Harris, Grand Scribe, A.D. 10 July 1873.
         Lucius Sterne Oille    W.M.
         William F. Biggar      S.W.
         Calvin Brown         J.W.
         James Seymour
         Robert McFate
         James McEdward    Secretary
         John McB. Currie
         John Riordan
         Robert Matheson
         Frederick A. Baker      I.G.
         George Graves
         John W. Cox         J.S.
         Laughlin Leitch         Treasurer
         James Binley Bennon
         Robert Ness        J.D.
         Roswell H. Smith
         James D. Tait
         Theodore Thompson      S.D.
         William Walter Greenwood   D.C.
               ________
                  APPENDIX IV
               ORGANIZATION  OF  ST.  CATHARINES  MASONIC  ASSOCIATION,  1871

 
      Be it remembered that on this Thirty-first day of January in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one
      We the Undersigned have resolved to form Ourselves into a Company according to the Provincials of a certain Act of the Parliament of Canada passed in the Twenty-third year of the Reign of Her Majesty Queen Victoria Chapter Thirty-one entitled “The Joint Stock Companies Judicial Incorporation Act” to be called “The Masonic Association of St. Catharines” for the purpose of erecting a building to be used in part as a Mechanics’ Institute or Public Reading or Lecture Room on the Town of St. Catharines in the County of Lincoln and Province of Ontario.
      And We do here by further Declare that the Capital Stock of the said Association shall be fifteen thousand dollars which shall be divided into Six hundred 
Shares of twenty-five dollars each.
      And We whose names are subscribed hereto with our representative address calling and amount of Subscriptions are the persons making this Declaration and that 
      Albert Chatfield, Robert Struthers and George Groves All of the said Town of St. Catharines shall be the First Directors of the said Association or Company.
Names          Address   Calling         Amount
Albert Chartfield, Trustee      St. Catharines   Manufacturer      $   800.00
George Groves         St. Catharines   Official Assignee      700.00
Robert Struthers, Trustee      St. Catharines   Merchant        1,500.00
James Seymour         St. Catharines   Collector Internal
                        Revenue        400.00
Edwin Goodman         St. Catharines   Physician           400.00
Alvin George Brown      St. Catharines   Barrister           400.00
Calvin Brown       St. Catharines   Barrister           400.00
Henry Carlisle       St. Catharines   Merchant          400.00
George Groves        St. Catharines   Official Assignee        100.00 James Davidson Tait      St. Catharines   Merchant          200.00 
James McEdward         St. Catharines   Accountant             50.00 
James Birdall Fowler     St. Catharines   Merchant          400.00 
Peter McCarthy         St. Catharines   Barrister           200.00
William McAndrews      St. Catharines   Merchant            50.00 
Emanuel Nethenvery      St. Catharines   Merchant          100.00
Daniel Webster Bixby      St. Catharines   Bookseller          100.00
Robert Hill McMullin      St. Catharines   Jeweller           100.00 
Robert Struthers         St. Catharines   Merchant          100.00 
William Walker Greenwood   St. Catharines   Druggist           100.00 
Joseph Edward Beeton    St. Catharines   Druggist             50.00 
Lewis Nelson Soper      St. Catharines   Music Dealer          100.00
Louis Dorr         St. Catharines   Mason              200.00
John William Coy         St. Catharines   Merchant            25.00
Samuel Goodfellow Dolson St. Catharines   Builder                400.00 
Levi Yale            St. Catharines   Manufacturer           200.00
James Albert Mills      St. Catharines   Machinist          100.00
William Byles Beeton    St. Catharines   Druggist           200.00
Lucius Sterne Oille      St. Catharines   Physician           400.00
            J. McPhee, - Registrar of the
            County of Lincoln to the Signature
      Witness      of Albert Chatfield and J. McPhee
            W.W. Powell, Deputy Registrar of
            the said County as to all the

            remaining signatures.
By Murvin J. McComb; Printed in The Papers of THE CANADIAN
MASONIC RESEARCH ASSOCIATION; Published by The
Heritage Lodge No. 730, A.F. & A.M., 1986.
Submitted by Bro. D. Roy Murray
King Solomon Lodge, No. 58, G.R.S.
